

Government of Canada

Policy Research Initiative Gouvernement du Canada

Projet de recherche sur les politiques

Exploring the Role of the Canadian Government in Integrated Land Management

Research Paper



Exploring the Role of the Canadian Government in Integrated Land Management

Research Paper

| Teresa Bellefontaine, Jean Haley and Bernard Cantin |
|---|
| September 2010 |
| PRI Publication Sustainable Development |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| This publication is available electronically on the PRI web site at the following address: <www.pri-prp.gc.ca></www.pri-prp.gc.ca> |
| For permission to reproduce the information in this publication, please e-mail: <copyright.droitdauteur@pwgsc.gc.ca></copyright.droitdauteur@pwgsc.gc.ca> |
| PH4-66/2010E-PDF 978-1-100-16501-1 |

© Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, 2010.

Table of Contents

| Introduction | 1 |
|---|-----------|
| Integrated Land Management in Canada | 2 |
| Jurisdiction and Scale | 3 |
| Stakeholder Engagement and Co-ordination | 4 |
| Conflicting Interests | 5 |
| Government Culture and Institutions | 5 |
| Types of Integrated Landscape Management Projects in Canada | 5 |
| The Beaufort Sea Integrated Management Planning Initiative (BSIMPI) | 6 |
| Alberta-Pacific Integrated Landscape Management Program and the Land-Use Fran | nework .6 |
| Literature Review on Governance and Roles in Integrated Land Management | 7 |
| Methodology - Structured Focus Groups | 10 |
| Findings and Analysis | 11 |
| Findings: Identifying Priorities for the Federal Government | |
| Conclusion | 15 |
| Appendix 1: Methodology | 17 |
| Appendix 2: Focus Groups - Main Common Themes | 18 |
| Appendix 3: Focus Groups – Coding | 19 |
| Appendix 4: Focus Groups - Themes by Numbers | 21 |
| Appendix 5: Theme Frequency across Questions | 23 |
| Appendix 6: Definition/Meaning: Focus Group Context | 24 |
| Appendix 7: Summary of Focus Group Pilots | 27 |
| Appendix 8: Focus Groups - Discontinuous Themes | 29 |
| Appendix 9: Select Quotations | 30 |
| References | 32 |
| Notes | 34 |

Introduction

Land use policy has been called the most "widespread, but little known example" of policy integration in Canada (Rayner and Howlett, 2009a: 166). This is often discussed in terms of Integrated Land Management (ILM), a systems approach to land and resource management, based on biophysical boundaries rather than land use activity. It employs a multistakeholder, trans-disciplinary and cross-jurisdictional approach to policy and decision making. As with most place-based¹ initiatives, ILM is a multi-faceted process that is highly context specific, can be institutionalized or informal, top down or bottom up. As such, ILM is a land use policy integration tool has many commonalities with more recent – and perhaps more well-known – place-based approaches such as Vibrant Communities or Action for Neighborhood Change. These are projects that seek to improve social outcomes by addressing complex neighbourhood effects through collaborative multi-stakeholder processes.

In addition to the complexities associated with its variety of form, ILM as a management concept is further challenged by issues of scale, resource competition, and multiple governmental jurisdictions. In Canada, many ILM projects touch on areas of federal jurisdiction; however, contextual factors can dramatically affect how the federal government is involved. As integrated land management is context specific, its objectives, governance, and participant engagement are highly variable, making a coherent understanding of roles and responsibilities an ongoing challenge. In particular, there appears to be a lack of recent analysis on the role of the Canadian federal government within ILM processes. This paper explores the role of the federal government to better understand the possibilities for ILM and place-based processes in Canada and to contribute toward their effective implementation. In doing so, it can also provide insight into the federal role in place-based initiatives across a range of national policy areas.

To help respond to the perceived gap in the literature, the Government of Canada's Policy Research Initiative (PRI)² conducted a series of exploratory focus groups with participants in ILM pilot projects to determine their expectations and experiences. The focus group process revealed that participants felt the federal government should provide strategic support for ILM. This was described as a partnership role that recognizes the value of locally developed policy and that uses the federal government's capacities to enable a longterm approach for ILM projects. These capacities included leadership, networking, funding, enabling the use of research, and setting the stage for longer-term time frames. The participants hoped federal leadership in these areas would advance more effective integration between federal departments and with other levels of government, as well as the ability to integrate ILM frameworks and processes into decision making. The findings are more ambiguous on the question of how the federal government should be involved. Some participants held the opinion that the federal government should maintain a constant presence within ILM processes to respect its holistic multi-stakeholder nature, while others felt its presence should be triggered by specific mandate considerations. Notably, based on their experience, participant perceptions of the federal government's ideal role differed from the federal government's current role, which was articulated as that of a knowledge broker, focused more on the creation and dissemination of research and tools. The call for

this expanded role for the federal government suggests a perceived gap in the strategic capacity in a number of ILM initiatives and the potential need to assess the federal government's role, objectives, and institutions.

While these exploratory findings are not generalizable due to the sample size of the focus groups, they nonetheless point to the need for further research and discussion about the possible roles of the Canadian federal government within ILM processes. To situate the PRI's findings within a broader context, this paper considers the nature of ILM and outlines available information on the role of the Canadian government, before proceeding with an analysis of the focus group results.

Integrated Land Management in Canada

Integrated land management has become institutionalized in Canada (Waldick, 2010: 74) and is increasingly considered an important approach for land use and natural resources management throughout the world. The coming into force of Canada's *Oceans Act* in 1997 contributed to Canada's reputation as a world leader in ILM (Elliot and Spek, 2004), as has the prevalence of its adoption. Each province and territory, as well as the federal government, has multiple ILM initiatives³. These include water, forest, land use, prairie, and Aboriginal land management projects. However, quantifying these initiatives is difficult due to the variety of ways that ILM can be defined. For instance Neave has identified thousands of stewardship projects in Canada (Neave cited in Cantin, 2010, p. 9). While the quantification of these initiatives are still incomplete, their increasing use has been observed (Waldick, 2010: 75),

As a stewardship process, ILM takes an integrated and holistic approach to managing land issues with a long-term, sustainable vision in mind. In ILM, decisions regarding the protection, development, and use of natural resources are made (Eddy et al., 2002: 291) with the goal "to optimize the land's economic and environmental benefits for today's society while preserving or increasing its capacity to provide these and other benefits for future generations" (IDRC, 2007: 15). ILM has been put forward in large part as a response to "a long legacy of single industry regulatory regimes" that resulted in incoherent policy instruments (Rayner and Howlett, 2009b: 323). These processes attempt to incorporate policy, science, the environment, and socio-economic information while optimizing collaborative management and planning and minimizing conflict among stakeholders by focusing on net gains through an analysis of trade-offs (Clausen and McAllister, 2001; Fast et al., 2005; PRI, 2009). Although ILM is a type of place-based approach, this specific focus on achieving integration of the three pillars gives ILM a distinct focus on sustainable development. Other features of ILM are the inclusion of uncertainty and missing information in the planning process (Waldick, 2010: 75).

One common element between ILM and other place-based processes is stakeholder engagement, with an emphasis on multiple societal players involved in developing and implementing solutions. Reviewing the literature on governance for sustainability, Pollack (2009) highlighted the normative framework that supports the shift to collaborative governance, and noted that the transition from government to governance may refer more to the changing perceptions of the traditional top-down model of government, than a

fundamental change in existing governance practices. However, Plummer and Fennell (2009, 156) argued that the "the conceptual basis for natural resource management has fundamentally changed." Clausen and McAllister (2001) also noted that this shift is reflected in industry approaches, pointing to Placer Dome Inc, and Falconbridge, as examples of industry-led policies that include commitments to the three pillars of sustainable development, and a tacit recognition that more conventional approaches to mining are no longer viable from a business perspective due to public expectations, delays in approvals, and court challenges. Increasingly, this changing expectation for stakeholder involvement, partnerships, and collaborative decision making is being adopted across policy and political fields.

While Canada has been credited as a world leader in ILM, ongoing challenges do exist for governments in implementing ILM at the local, regional, and national levels. These include issues of jurisdiction and scale, stakeholder engagement and co-ordination, conflicting interests, and government culture and institutions. These challenges do not have easy solutions, and the responsibility and role of the federal government in addressing them remain uncertain.

Jurisdiction and Scale

Natural resource management in Canada is jurisdictionally complex. While often regional in scope, ILM projects in Canada are frequently "nested" within provincial, federal and, sometimes, Aboriginal jurisdictions. Also, provincial, territorial, and federal responsibilities frequently overlap. In the British North America Act, provincial governments were assigned exclusive rights over public lands and most natural resources, yet the federal government retained responsibility for interprovincial matters, "setting the stage for historical conflict over resource and environmental management" (Hessing and Howlett, 1997 as cited in Clausen and McAllister: 240, 2001). In the Constitution Act, 1867, section 92(A), jurisdictions were clarified, with the federal government responsible for air pollution, oceans and waterways, toxic substances, fish habitats, migratory birds, and shipping (Hessing et al, 2005: 61). The provinces have responsibility for provincial parks, land use planning, and resource management (regulation, conservation, and protection) (NRCan, 2009), as well as provincial Crown land, which make up just under 50 percent of Crown lands. 4 The provinces and territories manage wildlife protection and habitats, pollution control, and environmental quality (soil, water, air). Both the federal and provincial governments are responsible for agriculture, interprovincial issues, and Aboriginal land claims to name a few. In practice these categories are not so simply defined. This, combined with the federal government's mandated obligations, mean the federal government is frequently involved alongside the provinces and territories in ILM activities.

Determining scale is an important factor in ILM's potential success and is a key determinant of the relevant actors. From an ecological perspective, setting boundaries is based on variables rooted in the natural environment; from a policy perspective, it can be defined by the area that is or will be affected by a decision and can encompass both temporal and spatial aspects of a system (PRI, 2005). Ellsworth (1995, cited in Clausen and McAllister, 2001: 241) described an ideal scale to achieve good governance as having "boundaries that are small enough to enable stakeholders to conceptualize the ecosystem; identify the

interrelationships between social, economic and environmental factors; identify relationships between past decisions and the current state of the ecosystem; and take ownership of ecosystem issues and their solution." This understanding of scale is necessarily context specific and, as a result, it is difficult for policy makers to encapsulate.

Despite these delineations, overlapping federal departmental mandates, intergovernmental agendas, and privately owned resources make jurisdictional responsibility sometimes difficult to pinpoint. As a result, the management of natural resources in Canada requires partnerships, diverse stakeholder engagement, and high levels of communication – practices that ILM may be strongly positioned to facilitate.

Stakeholder Engagement and Co-ordination

The complexity of sustainable development requires sophisticated planning and management approaches. The stakeholders in ILM processes can include federal departments, provincial legislators, independent research bodies, special interest groups, business, the scientific community, stewardship groups and other non-governmental organizations (NGOs), and residents. Involving stakeholders that may possess different values, competing interests and uneven resources requires comprehensive and skilled engagement techniques. Also, the federal government role in stakeholder engagement is vague, leaving gaps and overlaps in perceived responsibilities. Partnerships are complex due to environmental, economic, social and cultural challenges as well as the diversity of players, unclear performance measures, goal measurement, regulatory compliance, and fragmented funding (Babiak, 2009: 121). Co-ordination challenges include jurisdictional complexity, uncertainty, and ambiguity as well as the lack of scale appropriate knowledge and scientific data (Plummer and Fennell, 2009; Rayner and Howlett, 2009).

Rayner and Howlett (2009a: 167) noted that ILM policy processes are often introduced in a climate of dissatisfaction, as a solution to a problem. This means that while ILM can create opportunities for innovation, it is often beset by disorganized implementation, the layering of policies with incompatible aims, or policies that drift from intended purposes. While efficiency, equity, and co-ordination may seem elusive in ILM (Plummer and Fennell, 2009: 159), these mirror challenges in place-based, multi-sector partnerships that can include environmental constraints, diversity in organizational aims, barriers in communications, and difficulties in developing joint modes of operation, managing perceived power imbalances, building trust, and managing the logistics of working with geographically dispersed partners (Babiak, 2009: 117).

Observers point out that these challenges do not have simple solutions and require cooperation, open communication, extensive participation, and a sustained long-term vision. It should be noted, that the proliferation of ILM practices indicates these approaches are seen to be more effective than alternative siloed approaches, offering the opportunity to address layering and drift through a holistic analysis of policy interaction through the lens of place, where the impact of these interactions can be observed (Edge & McAllister, 2009). In addition, as stakeholders at all levels become more familiar with collaborative processes across policy fields, the systems-wide learning may occur, favourably affecting the implementation of ILM projects.

Conflicting Interests

Land and natural resources are finite and, as such, are grounds for competition and conflict, which often increases as the number of competing interests increases (Clausen and McAllister, 2001). In the face of polarized interests, ILM seeks to proactively create holistic policy goals and coherent policy instruments that relate to and support one another (Rayner and Howlett, 2009b). ILM processes aim to mediate conflicting interests by creating a formal mediation process and establishing broad planning goals as a framework for decision making, instead of reacting to individual permit requests. In the absence of an existing framework, permit requests are seen to steer planning regimes (Rutherford and Curran, 2008). This is considered a promising way to address institutional, jurisdictional, and economic constraints facing long-term sustainability, as well as a way to address the reactive and fragmented policy perceived to result from the traditional "siloed" approach (Edge and McAllister, 2009).

Government Culture and Institutions

Government culture, in particular the Canadian federal government, is often described as risk adverse and tied to accountability regimes that stifle innovation and discourage shared decision making. Some have argued that collaboration is the opposite end of the spectrum from the traditional management role of the federal government, which is characterized as "top down." This has been partially attributed to the vertical accountabilities of the Canadian version of the Westminster tradition, which does not naturally lend itself to horizontal partnerships. However, it was observed that the Canadian environment is changing, and collaboration is "a way to respond to change so that the federal government stays active and effective in a complicated public management environment" (PPF and PRI, 2008: 9).

While any list of barriers can appear daunting, Ellsworth and Jones-Walters (2005: 4) challenged the public service to see the complications inherent in horizontal initiatives in a positive light, as a mechanism for the continuous evolution and development of the public sector.

Types of Integrated Landscape Management Projects in Canada

Integrated land management projects have highly variable governance and jurisdictional contexts across Canada and, as a result, the role of the federal government can be quite different. Some factors include differences in provincial and territorial responsibilities, the existence of First Nations treaties or memorandums of agreement, the involvement of international interests, the presence of federal jurisdictional considerations, and the nature and scope of the ILM process as outlined by ILM participants. Projects can be either formal or informal in organizational structure and can also be initiated by a variety of actors: the community (Two Countries One Forest, Appalachian Acadian Forest), provincial governments (Saskatchewan's Great Sand Hills Planning Area), or the federal government (Model Forest Network). Due to this range of form, ILM can perhaps be best understood by exploring examples of its implementation. The Beaufort Seas Integrated Management Planning Initiative and the Alberta-Pacific Integrated Landscape Management Program/Land-Use Framework are briefly described here for this purpose.

The Beaufort Sea Integrated Management Planning Initiative (BSIMPI)

The BSIMPI followed on the heels of the Oceans Act (Elliot and, 2004: 5). The Oceans Act gives the federal government a legislated role to develop a national oceans management strategy using the principles of sustainable development, integrated management and precautionary approaches. Although BSIMPI is not a co-management group under the Inuvialuit Final Agreement, it strives to work in accordance with co-management principles (BSIMPI Secretariat, undated). Collaboration began in 1999 with Inuvialuit management, the Department of Fisheries and Oceans, and industry coming together to develop the BSIMPI agreement. This agreement built on previous work undertaken by the Inuvialuit communities and set the stage for the establishment of a foundation for oceans management, the formation of a working group on collaborative action on ocean management of the Beaufort Sea (Fast et al., 2005: 102), and the subsequent communitybased management plan (BSBMP). The BSBMP outlines long-term strategies to manage the beluga resource, and contains by-laws and regulations to guide development and other activities, demonstrating the inter-jurisdictional and inter-departmental co-ordination that ILM processes can achieve. Compliance however, is voluntary because the plan is not formally legislated.

Although the process has received criticism (Charles, 2010: 28), the BSIMPI exemplifies some of the benefits of the participatory decision making typical of ILM. BSIMPI's participatory consultation strategies reportedly strengthened partnerships, created access to information and resulted in better issue definition, and direct contribution to the decision-making process (Elliott and Spek, 2004: 5). It also promoted "learning and resilience among communities, industry, and government departments" as well as an understanding of the complexity of off-shore development and conservation. (Fast et al, 2005: 115). It has also been observed that the consultation process allowed for the reduction of future conflicts, led to a greater acceptance of the results by the community, and built a base of understanding and acceptance for the possible launch of new initiatives (Fast et al., 2005: 115).

Alberta-Pacific Integrated Landscape Management Program and the Land-Use Framework

The Alberta-Pacific Integrated Landscape Management program was developed in 1999 to reduce overlapping land-use issue management (Burton et al., 2003: 920). This ILM program was developed due to the impact of exploration, production, and transportation activities of the dominant oil and gas sector on Alberta forests. It aimed to reduce the industrial footprint of the forestry and energy sectors through co-ordinated planning and innovative exploratory and extraction processes (McCloy, 2001). It was adopted by the Alberta Chamber of Resources and prompted the establishment of a chair for ILM research at the University of Alberta (McCloy, 2001). This program reported successes as well as challenges. According to McCloy, it has not ensured integrated industrial activities across sectors. He observed that the lack of regional management from government, the public, and industry remains the greatest hurdle for accomplishing sustainable forest management in Alberta (2001: 920).

Noting that "sticking with the old rules will not produce the quality of life we have come to expect" (GOA, 2008: 2), the Government of Alberta subsequently drafted a regional

approach through the Land Use Framework (LUF). Initiated in 2008, and currently being implemented, the LUF would see the geography of Alberta divided into seven regions which will use a cumulative effects approach to land use planning, integrating land, air and water, taking into account multiple uses and developments over time on both pubic and private land (GOA, 2008). The federal government's participation is being facilitated through the Alberta Federal Council, a regional council of senior representatives of federal departments. The Government of Alberta has indicated the intention to include representation from the federal government on the LUF's Regional Advisory Councils in each of the seven regions (personal communication, 2009). Observing that "an effective land management system recognizes that planning and decision-making must take place at different levels and be integrated between levels", the LUF identifies a lack of available integrated information and notes the need for stronger connections between groups that have knowledge about the land, including other levels of government, industry and nongovernmental organizations (GOA, 2008).

Literature Review on Governance and Roles in Integrated Land Management

Integrated land management (ILM) is understood and discussed in the literature under a number of different terms. Ecosystem management, integrated landscape management, and integrated resource management can all be seen as synonyms for ILM. Furthermore, ILM is an umbrella term encompassing sector-specific practices, such as integrated watershed management, integrated forest management, and integrated ocean management, that place varying levels of emphasis on integration with other resource sectors, which ILM more explicitly attempts to achieve. Other terms can be seen as very closely associated. For example, Ellsworth and Jones-Walters (2005) combined social, economic, and environmental policy fields under the rubric of cumulative effects management (CEM).

Analysis of the role of the federal government in ILM literature is rare. In their discussion, Ellsworth and Jones-Walters discuss the role of the public sector as a whole, which is described as having a "catalytic leadership" role in achieving "purposeful governance." Purposeful governance combines shared ownership and responsibility for policy issues with the shared development, implementation, and evaluation of solutions. Ellsworth and Jones-Walters (2005: 34) argued that the public sector is situated to overcome institutional barriers and catalyze leadership in others. Catalytic leadership entails generating a multivalue vision of success and how to achieve it (focusing on how and why); approaching conflict as an opportunity for learning and transition; and encouraging a group discussion and learning process that enables a deep collaborative analysis of the often overlooked elements of intent and governance, in addition to implementation and goals. Ellsworth and Jones-Walters (2005: 34) also called for a focus on outcomes, noting that this replaces the "hierarchy of players" with the "hierarchy of purpose." This focus on purposeful governance echoes Lenihan's (2009: 11) observation that recent and significant societal changes mean not only that issues are more complex, but that sectors of society are more interdependent and must work together as partners to solve them. This, he argued, shifts the policy development processes of deliberation and action from the realm of government alone to a shared process with the public.

Ellsworth and Jones-Walters (2005: 34) made several recommendations. These included public service departments developing statements of intent that would identify the areas of possible collaboration to potential partners, as well as adopting open architectures by making information available to the community on current conditions, environmental and socio-economic stressors, and capacity to respond, and further assisting the community in being able to use this information.

In 2008, the Public Policy Forum (PPF) and the PRI conducted a roundtable with leaders from the voluntary sector, academia, and the federal government on the federal government's role within collaborative initiatives more generally. Those consultations concluded that the federal government can and should have a continued role in collaboration, and that this would mean "a greater appreciation for *ad hoc*, organic and informal arrangements, albeit under the guidance of some shared values and goals" (PPF and PRI, 2008: 5). The participants discussed the nodal network model versus the centralized hub-and-spoke model, noting that neither fully captures the federal role given the shifting reality of collaboration across multiple sectors. The participants felt the federal government was positioned to provide information, set goals or values for policy makers across sectors, and share resources, but cautioned that it should not see itself as the manager of this process, but instead reiterated the need for a focus on outcomes.

A previous PRI workshop addressed the role of the federal government in ILM more explicitly. The resulting 2005 report called for a national strategy for integrated land management models (ILMMs), which are technical models that aid in the ILM decision-making process. More specifically, the federal government's role, in part, was seen as providing the predictive planning tools needed to standardize approaches and goals, and address cumulative effects across sectors and jurisdictions (PRI, 2005: 5), in effect, using knowledge and data management processes to guide the harmonization of policy approaches across the country. This was seen as eliminating regulatory duplication, reducing planning conflict, and enhancing intergovernmental relationships within the country. The federal government's financial and leadership support was considered "imperative" to achieving a common community of practice, given the necessity for centralized co-ordination (PRI, 2005: 14).

This central co-ordination role was thought to fit the mandate of the federal government, because the "scope and magnitude of the necessary information exchange, knowledge co-production, and capacity requirements is beyond the authority and ability of provincial governments, private sector, or non-governmental organizations to facilitate or manage" (Waldick, 2010: 76). The workshop resulted in the establishment of IMAGINE Canada. This network of ILM practitioners is facilitated by federal government actors – GeoConnections at Natural Resources Canada and the ILM secretariat at Environment Canada – with support provided by an external advisory committee and the International Institute for Sustainable Development. The PRI report emphasized that the national scale can enable centralized co-ordination of knowledge and data, and provide leadership in developing a national vision.

Clausen and McAllister (2001) also envisioned government playing a key role in coordination and communication, particularly when conflict arises. In their discussion of mineral development, Natural Resources Canada was identified as the body that developed indicators to help managers and policy makers assess the impact and sustainability of mining operations. This included convening stakeholders and enabling consensus in the determination of the indicators. The role for government is to incorporate these diverse societal values through a supportive policy and regulatory environment. Clausen and McAllister (2001: 238) argued that while mineral policy in Canada is primarily a regional planning issue, it must be considered on a variety of scales "from the broad, supportive, planning philosophy of a national mineral policy to applied practices at a local mine site." They also noted that while regulatory frameworks should work to eliminate overlaps, they should also avoid gaps, fragmentation, and deregulation, which work against integration and co-ordination. The ILM process requires effective communication between government departments and tools, such as policy statements and plain language interpretations of technical factors including legal regime and scientific terminology to educate stakeholders about the exogenous forces that affect their project and region. Multi-stakeholder processes are considered one way to address government silos by engaging departments thematically with other stakeholders. Within the mineral field, Clausen and McAllister identified a role for the federal government in ecosystem health across Canada.

Recent additions to the literature include new case studies of ILM initiatives. While most such studies limit themselves to describing the federal role within the context of the process, some have also contributed more general observations. Rayner and Howlett's (2009a) discussion of three western Canada case studies yielded recommendations for future actions for ILM initiatives including limiting the number of overall stakeholders at the project level, because collaborative groups that are too large can inhibit successful partnerships. This, they argued, would enable "clarity of policy goals and the normative expectations around the choice of appropriate policy instruments" (Rayner and Howlett, 2009a: 167). They suggested that a multiplicity of interests could be more effectively incorporated at the regional strategic planning level. They also observed that the role of government depends on the relative strength of private actors which affects "the ability of a government to de-centralize or de-concentrate authority to non-state actors, ultimately affecting the choice of policy instruments or regulatory techniques" (Rayner and Howlett, 2009a: 170). This line of argument implies that where the federal government is involved in ILM, it should be at the strategic planning level, where a multiplicity of actors can, arguably, be most effectively integrated.

In her recently published thesis, Pollack (2009: 102) described biosphere reserves in Canada as relatively undocumented, but having "developed highly collaborative, multistakeholder approaches to governance." As part of the UN's Man and the Biosphere (MAB) program, the federal government was looked to as a possible funder and co-ordinator, and was approached with several funding models that included core funding for a national office or network, endowment funding, or creating an application-based fund for biosphere reserves nationally. A Canada-MAB committee was initiated in 1974 but dissolved in 1992. The federal government's role was described as shifting over time and unreliable due to the jurisdictional, administrative, and disciplinary boundaries and scope, which was so encompassing that "MAB in Canada looked as if it belonged to everybody and nobody" (Francis, 2004 cited in Pollack, 2009: 95). Leadership was described as coming from the dedication of individual civil servants or, in approximately half the cases where biosphere

reserves are associated with national parks or national wildlife areas, Parks Canada staff. When the working group formed itself into a non-profit organization in 1998, Parks Canada contributed a half-time executive secretary and some funding (Francis 2004, cited in Pollack, 2009). Notably, the Clayoquot Sound biosphere reserve successfully secured a \$12 million federal endowment fund, with a more recent federal commitment to provide \$2 million over two years to support co-ordination efforts and establish a national office with two staff. This case study focuses primarily on the federal government's role as a funder and co-ordinator, and highlights the complications that can result from inconsistency in fulfilling these roles.

Research on the Canadian federal role in ILM initiatives is in its early stages and, as a result, much of the literature that informs this discussion is from related fields. The literature indicates a strategic role for the federal government including communication, collaboration, co-ordination, and leadership with a focus on outcomes. This is seen to entail convening stakeholders, proactively identifying areas for collaboration, making data and knowledge available, and ensuring it can be used. the literature suggests achieving collaboration by holding initiatives accountable to their objectives rather than hierarchical relationships. The federal government is also seen as uniquely positioned to co-ordinate goals, values, and regulations across resource sectors and jurisdictions to avoid gaps and fragmentation. These findings are intriguing, and given such observations as "collaborative governance has become the new norm" (Pollack, 2009: 141) and the "new benchmark of public sector relevance" (Ellsworth and Jones-Walters, 2005: 3), it is fair to suggest that ILM is a relevant planning mechanism that warrants further attention from a federal government perspective. As a result, the PRI and its partners (Environment Canada and GeoConnections) embarked on a series of focus groups to gather practicioner knowledge.

Methodology - Structured Focus Groups

Given the promise of ILM and the concerns expressed regarding the lack of clarity with regards to roles, this series of focus groups aimed to gain a better understanding of perspectives on the federal government's role from participants working on the ground. This project chose Environment Canada and GeoConnections pilot projects as the basis for focus group participation. These projects address local environmental issues, each with their own geographies, ecosystems, and governing regimes. Summaries of these projects are provided in Appendix 7, including a description of the region, the nature of the project, and any historical elements that shaped the need for an ILM-type project.

The focus group methodology was chosen to elicit perceptions and lessons learned by users, knowledge holders, community members, government employees, and industry members regarding ILM and the federal government's role. The methodology is further outlined in Appendix 1. A total of 35 people participated in the focus groups. Due to the sample size the findings of this report are not generalizable. Questions were structured to ascertain perceptions of the federal government's current role in ILM as well as expectations, and the perceived effectiveness of federal roles in ILM.

Ouestions

Introduction: Can you tell me about your experience working with representatives of federal organizations on ILM-type initiatives?

Question 1: Based on your experience or knowledge, what are some of the specific roles the federal government plays that are relevant to ILM?

Question 2: How could the federal government best play this role? (Based on Q1)

Prompts: What are its responsibilities? To what extent is it necessary for that specific federal role to be tailored to the landscape level needs? To what extent does this federal role complement or help provide checks and balances to the roles of other levels of government, other actors?

Question 3: Of all the roles identified what ones should the federal government prioritize?

Findings and Analysis

The questions led participants to state their history with ILM projects and then discuss three main question areas focused on what is, what could be, and what should be the role of the federal government in supporting ILM-type practices.

Findings: The Current Role of the Federal Government

When asked to describe their experience of the federal government's current role in ILM-type processes, the most commonly identified themes involved knowledge mobilization achieved through research, information transfer, facilitation, dissemination, enabling discussion, and the development of tools. The most commonly coded themes included:

- science/research
- encouraging information transfer
- project/programs

These responses identify the federal government as an active provider of ILM-type programs and projects. While not exclusively a federal domain, it was felt that the federal government imparts new research developments or lessons learned and shares this knowledge with stakeholders and participants. Participants saw the federal government as generating research that was considered an important aspect to ILM success. Participants also observed the federal government as a facilitator and mentor, fostering community leadership and developing strategic frameworks that innovate in the field of ILM.

This question also elicited several observations about the current role of the federal government and challenges being experienced. For example, participants noted that

communication is an issue, between federal departments, between the federal and provincial governments, and with implementing bodies. It was also noted that while data are generated by the federal government, they are not always shared, and the capacity does not necessarily exist at the implementation level to find, use, or sometimes even understand the data, indicating a lack of time, resources, and expertise on the ground. Some participants observed that while this expertise does exist at the federal level, these experts are often not available to participate in processes, and federal "champions" for ILM are not easily replaced when they change positions.

Participants also noted that federal and provincial cutbacks mean fewer resources are available for monitoring, and there is an increased expectation for research to recover costs. Processes relying on web sites were identified as not conducive to Aboriginal input, as were processes that approach the natural environment from resource "silos" (e.g. forestry).

Overall, the responses indicate that the federal government is acting in the role of a knowledge broker: creating and disseminating research and tools through discussion, guidance, and community leadership. Responses also indicated several ways in which this role could be made more effective.

Findings: The Federal Government's Possible Roles

Participants were then asked to discuss the possible roles the federal government could assume in ILM processes and explore the need for a federal ILM approach. While knowledge mobilization continued to be identified, themes of support and strategic leadership were more evident. The themes most often coded included:

- model itself around other areas/experiences
- foster links
- programs/education
- transfer knowledge

During this discussion, participants conveyed that the federal government could provide more support for ILM collaboration. This included financial support for programs and infrastructure, with some expressing a need for increased funding of research and monitoring, but also support for facilitation and linking partners.

Participants indicated that the federal government is not fully engaged, with increased co-ordination, funding, and research cited as areas for federal involvement. With regard to co-ordination, the hope was expressed that the federal government could facilitate jurisdictional co-ordination across federal, provincial, and First Nation jurisdictions to enable regulatory consistency and encourage inter-disciplinary teams to co-ordinate across resource sectors. This included the need for increased funding, transmission of lessons learned, providing clarity on research mandates, and enabling ILM projects to situate their programs in a comparative national context. The federal government's current level of participation was seen to limit the possible successes of ILM projects.

Participants also noted the need for consistency in federal government involvement. This meant predictability in funding and policy to enable the establishment and implementation of long-range plans, as well as continuity in staff. Participants commented on difficulties in accessing the federal government, with observations that the community needs the "right in" to be able to access the right people and knowledge to maintain contacts and support. One participant suggested a one-stop shop as a potential approach. Others recommended a network, like IMAGINE Canada, or a regional co-ordination unit, to work on ILM projects which would enable flexibility for smaller projects where limited capacity would preclude the creation of a full ILM process. Participants also mentioned the federal government's regulatory role, indicating that standards are needed to ensure consistency from all levels of government.

Participants also noted the need for capacity building including guidance and support. In particular, the need for the federal government to build empirical data based on previous ILM project findings and to communicate this information to guide communities and provinces. As noted by one participant in the Model Forest/National Park focus group, the federal government has the capacity to draft a framework which could then be "made realistic by provinces/municipalities, which then feed back into federal (officials) to help refine and create nationally relevant frameworks, while helping better inform provinces, individuals and tools." Capacity to participate in ILM processes was a particular concern for the Aboriginal community, with the belief that non-Aboriginal stakeholders had more effective input. Participants expressed a need to strengthen the capacity of the regions to undertake ILM initiatives through an iterative process.

Together these responses indicated a perceived need for more support for ILM processes from the federal government through increased resources and co-ordination. Participants felt the federal government can support ILM projects by sharing research, gained knowledge, networks, and educational information on ILM processes with all stakeholders. They wanted a more flexible yet consistent role, with the federal government adapting its approach according to lessons learned from previous ILM processes.

Findings: Identifying Priorities for the Federal Government

Following this, participants were asked to identify the federal government's priorities within ILM processes. In this discussion, responses reinforced the need for a knowledge and supportive role, but focused increasingly on strategic support including long-term thinking, an enabling role, leadership, and a multi-stakeholder approach. The most frequently coded themes included:

- enabling/engaging role
- long-term initiatives/funding
- leader/facilitator
- multi-stakeholder approach
- support local initiatives
- transfer of knowledge
- consistency

In isolating the common themes across the three focus groups, strategic planning as a priority for the federal government becomes more evident. Notably, within the Aboriginal focus group, prioritizing community-level programs was emphasized. This entailed allowing program management and delivery within the community and shared federal-provincial-First Nations legislation.

Participants across the focus groups highlighted long-term thinking and a multi-stakeholder approach to ensure multiple viewpoints and actors are integrated into the process to promote both legitimacy and continuity of planning. They also focused on a leadership and facilitation role for the federal government, whereby it would lead by example, link ILM actors through communication and network building, and ensure ILM projects are informed and enhanced by successful practices, resources, and research dissemination.

Participants perceived some shortcomings in ILM projects and envisioned a more comprehensive role for the federal government, building on its mandates, capacities, and strengths. Some participants indicated that their experience was not living up to the expectation created by the term "integrated" – either in terms of inputs being integrated into decision making or the integration of federal and provincial processes. Participants identified strategic approaches for the federal government to help address this, including an enabling role, providing leadership, and encouraging strategically oriented time frames with a "bigger picture" and stewardship focus.

Tensions naturally exist within this discussion, and one significant theme to emerge centered on the level of federal government involvement and issues of power. One participant's concept of federal leadership was to "help groups know about each other, come together, and learn about resources." In essence, the federal government should use its networking capabilities to bring all the stakeholders to the table and provide funding and opportunities based on long-term thinking. Yet another participant suggested the federal government should participate in ILM, but only when its mandate was touched. Others felt the federal government should always be involved at the ILM table, ready to support the process when necessary. This approach reflected a belief in the value of "being present" throughout the process, cultivating a deeper understanding of the project dynamic, enabling the identification of federal resources and opportunities, and promoting the transmission of knowledge and expertise.

While participants envisioned an increased level of strategic participation on the part of the federal government, they also pointed out that increased participation and investment of resources should not mean increased federal direction. Participants felt that municipalities and provinces were best suited for project operation since the federal government faces exceptional barriers related to jurisdictional limitations of natural resource management. Rather, they urged that the federal government should recognize the value of locally developed policy and "help us help ourselves" and enable the development of stronger local accountability structures that are consistent with national policies. Observing that top-down program delivery is a "poor fit," one participant urged the federal government to "reduce common look and feel policies and let communities lead." Another participant suggested that ILM be viewed as a leveraging opportunity rather than a government intervention. The participants believed the federal government could use its knowledge

capacity to help communities and provinces learn from its experiences, utilize research results, and provide guidance with a high-level, hands-off approach. Participants implied that the federal government has a responsibility to aid communities with ILM practices through research, funding, facilitation, and leadership.

Conclusion

Integrated land management is increasingly considered to have potential as a mechanism to address complex jurisdictional issues and remains important for Canada given our geography, interrelated mandates, and the challenges experienced in our unique ecosystems. As with most place-based models, the complexity of ILM results in a lack of clarity with regards to structures, and governance. Overall, the goal of the PRI research was to explore the current understanding of the federal government's role within ILM projects to inform future directions and discussions. The focus group sessions served to reveal the participants' perceptions and expectations on what is, what could be, and what should be the role of the federal government in sustaining ILM-type practices.

There was a clear message that participants believed this type of planning practice was and could be effective, and that ILM approaches should continue to be a model for all levels of government. Both the literature and the results of the focus group research indicate there is a role for the federal government within these initiatives. This is, in part, a function of the federal government's jurisdictional requirements, but also the holistic nature of ILM and the expectations of ILM partners.

However, there was recognition that the federal government's role is not easy to define. Participants reiterated the importance of the federal government's role as a knowledge broker using the tools at hand: research, funds, and networks, and sharing this information with communities. Participants identified the existence of knowledge gaps and felt the federal government should work to improve the facilitation of information transfer and enable its ultimate use.

In general, participants think the federal government's best contribution would be to provide strategic support for ILM-practices. This positioning entails long-term thinking, engagement, and enabling the community level, as well as communicating information and creating partnerships across all stakeholder groups. Participants noted the government has various tools and resources at its disposal that are vital for the successful operation of ILM activities and should direct its strategies on a long-term basis with regards to funding and facilitation. Communications and horizontal co-ordination are seen to be considerable issues for the federal government in contributing toward successful ILM projects.

As a type of place-based initiative, ILM projects were seen as a community-level process, as local representatives best understand the land, the community, the resources, and what is most needed for the future. This places the onus on the local and provincial levels, yet invites the federal government to focus on capacity building from the bottom up. Some argued that this entailed "being present" within ILM projects and enabling community processes, while recognizing the limits of local capacity. Participants sought capacity-

building support from the federal government including research, funding, facilitation, and leadership.

Notably, the focus group results echo findings from the literature review. There is convergence both on the appropriateness of the federal government's involvement in ILM and on the possible roles for the federal government, including communication, collaboration, co-ordination, and strategic leadership. Primary and secondary research point to a lack of consistency in the federal government's current approach and to the need for the federal government to assist communities in using the data and knowledge it disseminates.

Based on these initial findings, it would be worth exploring the federal government's role within ILM by focusing on:

- an integrated ecosystem approach
- consistency of funding and presence
- improved data, knowledge, and co-ordination
- a multi-stakeholder approach
- non-directive strategic support and partnership.

While some specific examples and interpretations have been provided through this process, future research could clarify how the federal government can best fulfill the role of strategic support, and how the federal government can fit into existing provincial and territorial ILM frameworks. This would also aid in taking stock of the federal government's role in place-based initiatives across a number of policy fields.

This research has established an updated baseline of discussion regarding the role of the federal government in ILM processes by focusing on several ILM pilot projects. Anticipated next steps include focus groups with established ILM processes and a survey of place-based evaluations during 2010. We invite input and collaboration in this research. For more information contact: <questions@pri-prp.gc.ca>.

Appendix 1: Methodology

Five focus group sessions took place over a four-month period from November 2008 to March 2009. The focus groups are reported in three categories: Inland Sea (two sessions: November 27, 2008, Kemptville, Ontario n= 17⁵; the Eastern Ontario Model Forest and St. Lawrence Island National Park (two sessions: December 16, 2008, Sydney, Nova Scotia, n=13); and Aboriginal-Kaska (One session: March 17, 2009, Kaska, British Columbia, n=5).

While discussions were structured, they did allow for wide-ranging input based on the interests of the participants. The sessions were about two hours each and used a common format.

While participant numbers were relatively small, common themes emerged in their responses and were identified by classifying words and synonyms, interpreting the context in which the responses were made and identifying the frequency with which themes were mentioned by participants. The full list of coded themes by frequency is included in Appendix 5. An additional step of refining the definition of themes was undertaken to ensure respondent answers were fully understood within their supporting context. The results of this process are reported in Appendix 6. Finally, quotations reflecting the identified common themes were chosen to help illustrate the discussion behind the study's findings for this report and are reported in Appendix 9. Analysis focused on identifying patterns and trends in participant responses, and any consistencies or apparent contradictions. Themes were also compared across questions and sessions to identify redundant themes and allow for confirmation of the analysis and results.

Appendix 2: Focus Groups - Main Common Themes

| | Inland Sea November 27, 2008 | Aboriginal-Kaska March 17, 2009 | Model Forest/National Park December 16, 2008 |
|--|---|------------------------------------|--|
| Question 1: Based on your experience or knowledge, what are some of the specific roles the federal government plays that are relevant to ILM-? | -conduct research and -knowledge sharing -provide programs/pro -facilitators/guidance | | |
| Question 2: How could the federal government best play this role (based on Q1). | -build capacity/foster -model itself around o -transfer of knowledg -develop programs/ed | ther areas/experiences | |
| Question 3: Of all the roles identified, what ones should the federal government prioritize? | -long-term thinking/in -engaging/enabling -leader/facilitator -multi-stakeholder app | | |

Appendix 3: Focus Groups - Coding

| Thomas | hv | Ougstion | and Focus | Groun | (* indicato | incressing | frequency of | f racnanca) |
|--------|----|----------|-----------|-------|-------------|------------|--------------|-------------|
| Themes | DΥ | Question | and rocus | Group | (* maicate | mcreasme | irequency of | response) |

| Themes by Question a | Themes by Question and Focus Group (* indicate increasing frequency of response) | | | | |
|---------------------------------|--|---|---|--|--|
| Group | Question 1: Based on your experience or knowledge, what are some of the specific roles the federal government plays that are relevant to ILM? | Question 2: How could the federal government best play this role? (Based on Q1) | Question 3: Of all the roles identified, what ones should the federal government prioritize? | | |
| Inland Sea November 27, 2008 | | | | | |
| Group 1 | -provide infrastructure -foster community leadership -encourage information transfer (*) -develop tools -work with local government -facilitators -researchers | -regulatory role (*) -ensure openness -consistency -delegation | -support local initiatives (**) -enabling/ engaging role (******) -consistency(*) -multi-stakeholder pursuance (*) -stewardship -provide more funding -leader/facilitator (*) | | |
| Group 2 | -disseminates research -provide programs -enable discussion -leadership/guidance | -increase funding/grants -monitor/operational -co-ordinate regulations -apply lessons learned -long-range plans | -long-term initiatives/view -monitoring -big picture -increase funding | | |
| Model Forest /National Park | | | | | |
| December 16, 2008 | | | | | |
| Group 1 | -engagement -science/research (**) -project/programs -partnership -facilitators -unionizes -funding -mitigate risk -strategic purpose -integrate -framework -monitoring -knowledge sharing (*) | -structure provincial mandates -leader -transfer of knowledge (*) -support -model itself around other areas/experiences (**) -fund transfer | -standardized programs -long-term initiatives (*) -consistent tracking -multi-stakeholder approach -departments as champions -leader/facilitator | | |
| Group 2 | -monitoring -guidance -disseminate findings | -programs/ education(**) -links | -promotion of ILM -engage locally -transfer of knowledge | | |

| | | -transfer of knowledge -foster communication -unified body -guidance | -long-term initiatives (**) -network co- ordination |
|------------------|--|---|---|
| Aboriginal-Kaska | | | |
| March 17, 2009 | -provide programs -generate information | -build capacity (*) -use research knowledge -connect regionally | -facilitate decision making -multi-stakeholder approach -long-term funding (*) -transfer of knowledge (*) -programs |

Appendix 4: Focus Groups - Themes by Numbers

| Questions | Themes | Frequency |
|---|-----------------------------------|-----------|
| | science/research | 5 |
| | encourage information transfer | 4 |
| | project/programs | 4 |
| Question 1: Based on your knowledge or | facilitators | 2 |
| experience what are some of the specific | foster community leadership | 2 |
| roles the federal government plays that are relevant to ILM? | monitoring | 2 |
| recevant to invi: | strategic purpose/framework | 2 |
| | disseminate findings/research | 2 |
| | develop tools | |
| | engagement/enable discussion | |
| | funding | |
| | guidance | |
| | integrate | |
| | leadership/guidance | |
| | mitigate risk | |
| | partnership | |
| | | |
| | model itself around other | 3 |
| | areas/experiences foster links | 3 |
| Question 2: How could the federal | programs/education | 3 |
| government best play this role (based on | transfer of knowledge | 3 |
| Q1)? | build capacity | 2 |
| | fund transfer | 2 |
| Prompts: What are its responsibilities? To | | 2 |
| what extent is it necessary for that specific | guidance/support | 2 |
| federal role to be tailored to landscape-level needs? To what extent is this federal role | regulatory role | <u>Z</u> |
| complement or help provide checks and | apply lessons learned | |
| balances to the roles of other levels of | consistency | |
| government, other actors? | delegation | |
| | ensure openness | |
| | foster communication | |
| | leader | |
| | long-range plans | |
| | monitor/operational | |
| | use research knowledge | |
| | enabling/engaging role | 8 |
| 0 4 0 06 1141 1 11 46 1 1 4 | long-term initiatives/funding | 8 |
| Question 3: Of all the roles identified, what are the ones the federal government should | leader/facilitator | 4 |
| prioritize? | multi-stakeholder approach | 4 |
| prioritie. | support local initiatives | 3 |
| | transfer of knowledge | 3 |
| | consistency | 3 |
| | programs | 2 |
| | increase funding | 2 |
| | big picture | |

| monitoring | |
|-----------------------|--|
| standardized programs | |
| stewardship | |

Appendix 5: Theme Frequency across Questions

*Themes that emerged from all three questions

| Themes | Question 1 | Question 2 | Question 3 | Total |
|---------------------------------|------------|------------|------------|-------|
| | | | | |
| Enable discussion/engagement* | 2 | 1 | 8 | 11 |
| Encourage information transfer* | 4 | 4 | 3 | 11 |
| Partnership/multi-stakeholder* | 1 | 5 | 4 | 10 |
| Long-range plans | 0 | 1 | 8 | 9 |
| Project/programs* | 4 | 3 | 2 | 9 |
| Leader/facilitators* | 3 | 1 | 4 | 8 |
| Disseminate findings/research | 2 | 5 | 0 | 7 |
| Foster community leadership | 2 | 0 | 3 | 5 |
| Funding* | 1 | 2 | 2 | 5 |
| Science/research | 5 | 0 | 0 | 5 |
| Consistency | 0 | 1 | 3 | 4 |
| Monitoring* | 2 | 1 | 1 | 4 |
| Guidance | 2 | 2 | 0 | 4 |
| Strategic purpose/framework | 2 | 0 | 1 | 3 |
| Regulatory role | 0 | 3 | 0 | 3 |
| Delegation | 0 | 1 | 1 | 2 |
| Big picture | 0 | 0 | 1 | 1 |
| Stewardship | 0 | 0 | 1 | 1 |
| Ensure openness | 0 | 1 | 0 | 1 |
| Unified body | 0 | 1 | 0 | 1 |
| Develop tools | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1 |
| Integrate | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1 |
| Mitigate risk | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1 |

Appendix 6: Definition/Meaning: Focus Group Context

| Diet est est | The federal garages and needs to delege helicities ground ashouse |
|-----------------------|--|
| Big picture | The federal government needs to take a holistic, grand scheme |
| | perspective for integrated management projects as it has been too |
| | individually project focused previously |
| Build | This is the process of building strength and ability for regions and areas |
| capacity | to perform ILM functions. This is made possible through |
| | communication, programs, etc. |
| Consistency | While taking action, ensure regular, habitual steps are being taken |
| | across the map on all ILM projects. These steps help build capacity and |
| | help the federal level remain in a leadership role |
| Delegation | The responsibilities and authorities for projects and research can be |
| U | divvied up to other levels of government to create more openness and |
| | encourage various lines of communication |
| Develop tools | These tools include educational tools, science tools, performance |
| 2 c · crop cocio | measurement tools, communication tools based on integrated |
| | management practices and goals |
| Disseminate | Produce analytical results, which include winning and losing conditions |
| findings/ | that can be replicated elsewhere based on conclusions from programs, |
| research | projects, initiatives, etc. |
| Enable | Encourage and ensure open, free-flowing discussion that builds on |
| discussion | strengths and weaknesses. This guarantees validity of projects that |
| discussion | involve all party members: federal, provincial, local level |
| Enabling/ | This is a technical role where the federal government ensures that |
| engaging role | programs are off the ground, either through funding, research, etc. It |
| engaging role | also provides an engaging role where the federal level can provide clear |
| | |
| Engourage | communication and feedback through engagement |
| Encourage information | These are the processes of taking lessons learned or new research |
| | developments and sharing this knowledge with stakeholders and |
| transfer | participants. This can and should be done at any governmental level and |
| Do do do ser est | is not restricted to the federal level |
| Engagement | Foster methods and techniques to ensure that multi-stakeholders are |
| | participating from beginning to end. This participation is the most |
| | important characteristic for engagement |
| Ensure | While performing actions for integrated management, ensure that all |
| openness | information is available to those involved and also to the general public |
| | to build capacity. It creates a stronger, legitimate process for those |
| | involved |
| Facilitators | The process of an all-encompassing role that includes allowances for |
| | communication, networking, leadership, etc. |
| Foster | Enable community development and encourage local leadership |
| community | through various methods (often cited providing funds and leading |
| leadership | through action) |
| Foster links | Act as a bridging point for other actors and venues to come together |
| | and participate in ILM practices |

| Fund | Transfer money directly to areas that will be implementing ILM |
|----------------|--|
| transfer/ | techniques rather than have the federal level choose the suitable |
| funding | program for the specific area. This results in local areas implementing |
| | their own projects and initiatives |
| Guidance/sup | This guidance and support role is possible by building data empirically |
| port | on previous ILM project findings and using the information to steer |
| _ | communities and provinces in the appropriate direction for future ILM |
| | activities |
| Increase | Participants remarked that projects at the municipal level require more |
| funding | funding than what was previously distributed, and projects like ILM |
| | require consistent, long-term funding |
| Integrate | Take a holistic approach and ensure that all ILM areas are in synch and |
| 221000220000 | aligned with one another |
| Leadership | Lead by example and take action on ILM practices to encourage |
| Leadership | movement in all areas and regions around these techniques |
| Long-range | All the initiatives and actions taken for ILM projects should be based on |
| plans | a long-term plan that continues from government to new government |
| Mitigate risk | Provide a security measure that allows for provinces and municipalities |
| Willigate Tisk | to take risks with integrated management projects. This could mean |
| | funding measures, liability/legality structures, etc. |
| Model itself | Use the knowledge and information that can be taken away from |
| around other | previous integrated management experiences and apply this knowledge |
| areas/ | |
| | to future projects |
| experiences | Due constitute all according for development and the constant and according to |
| Monitoring | Process that allows the federal government to watch and screen actions |
| | and processes occurring at all levels with regards to integrated |
| N/14: | management practices |
| Multi- | Ensure participation from multiple, if not all members (federal, |
| stakeholder | provincial, municipal, NGOs, etc.) to build legitimacy and ensure many |
| approach | viewpoints are considered |
| Partnerships | Develop collaborators and networks with other levels that can and |
| D / | should take part with ILM. Requires strong links and multi-stakeholders |
| Programs/ | Use programs and educational methods to garner attention, support and |
| education | value for ILM practices with community members and Canadian |
| | citizens. This will help disseminate the outputs of the work for decision |
| | making and allow for ILM participants to lead initiatives and gain a |
| | greater understanding of what ILM is, the benefits from these projects |
| | and how they can help |
| Project/ | The public service functions the government performs, like initiatives, |
| programs | for the citizens of Canada to use that are specifically ILM designed |
| Regulatory | Remain in line with current governmental mandate and regulatory |
| role | support role for natural resources. These standards are needed to |
| | ensure consistency from all levels of government for these resources |
| Science/ | The federal government has the resources to conduct or contract out |
| research | this type of research for ILM practices |
| Standardized | Developed programs need to meet certain standards and be streamlined |
| L | |

| programs | and transferable for all initiatives |
|---------------|--|
| Stewardship | Federal government needs to act as an administrative body for ILM |
| | practices and manage the functions and processes of these practices |
| Strategic | Develop tactical endeavours that attempt new things with an |
| purpose/fram | overarching goal and framework for ILM projects. These provide |
| ework | common strategies and standards that can be applied anywhere |
| Support local | This is the process of devising strategies to ensure that the local level is |
| initiatives | at the heart of the practice and that diverse groups are integrated into |
| | this process. Support is shown by creating these opportunities in which |
| | the municipal level can participate and become engaged |

Appendix 7: Summary of Focus Group Pilots

This section describes the nature of the specific focus groups and details of the represented ILM projects. These Canadian projects have specific geographies, ecosystems and governing regimes that were considered conducive to ILM-type projects. Members with an active interest in these projects participated in the focus groups. These summaries describe the nature of the project, the members involved, and some of historical elements that shaped the need for ILM projects. The focus groups were divided into three categories: Inland Sea, Model Forest/National Park, and Aboriginal-Kaska.

1. Inland Sea

Cape Breton, Nova Scotia (Bras d'Or Marine Lakes)

Recovering from post-industrial depression, the small island of Cape Breton continues to struggle to balance ecosystem management and its diverse human communities. Over a 30-year period, the community of Bras D'Or examined the drivers for detrimental impacts and translated these results into desired initiatives for a sustainable estuarine ecosystem future. More recently, these results have generated initiatives like the Bras d'Or Lake Biosphere Reserve Association, the Collaborative Environmental Planning Initiative (CEPI) for the Bras d'Or Lakes and, finally, the Pitu'paq (translated from Mi'kmaq as "that to which all waters flow") Partnership for clean water.

More specifically, to manage the human activities of the Bras D'Or Lakes of Cape Breton, an integrated land-seascape management project has been proposed. With the goal of developing a science-based planning and reporting tool for the management of the Bras D'Or Lakes, these tools are set to benefit the 20 agencies responsible for the health of the ecosystem management of Bras D'Or. The overall goals of the proposed project are to develop integrated seascape management policies, and provide quality and transparent ecosystem-based management, and measureable enhancements to the Bras D'Or Lakes.

2. Model Forest/National Park

Eastern Ontario Model Forest (St. Lawrence Islands National Park)

As one of fourteen model forests in Canada's Model Forest Network, the Eastern Ontario Model Forest works with government, landowners, industry, First Nations and other stakeholders to develop new ways to sustain and manage forest resources.

Achieving integrated landscape management (ILM) requires the strong support of people living in a particular landscape. With funding assistance from GeoConnections (Natural Resources Canada) the Eastern Ontario Model Forest, in partnership with St. Lawrence Islands National Park, has launched an ILM pilot project in the United Counties of Leeds and Grenville. At the heart of the project is an effort to engage community members in articulating a common vision for a desired future landscape in Leeds and Grenville. The project is also looking to the broader community for input on important community values,

in particular through a Community Values Mapping tool that has been created with the help of the Centre for Community Mapping. Ultimately, the project will help to identify values important to local communities in Leeds and Grenville and provide a toolbox to help ensure that planning strives to preserve those things collectively identified as important to life in the region – reflecting natural, cultural, spiritual, social and economic community interests.

To date, more than 50 groups and organizations, representing schools, First Nations, industry, conservation authorities, government and agriculture -- both at home and abroad - have entered into a partnership with the EOMF.

3. Aboriginal-Kaska

Kaska Native Territory (British Columbia)

The Kaska Dena Native community uses community-based land plans with the goal of harmonizing economic development and the preservation of the cultural and ecological integrity in the boreal region. This community borders on British Columbia, Yukon, and the Northwest Territories, and covers about 150,000 km. It includes five First Nations groups.

There continues to be a heavy reliance from the Kaska Dena people on the environment for shelter, food, spiritual fulfillment, medicines, and travel. This region has over five exploratory projects, such as the Hard Creek Nickel Project, on site with no land use plan to guide development. This project expressed a need of an ILM-type modelling scheme to guide these projects in a manner that conforms with the values and goals of the Kaska Dena people.

The project for this area seeks to eliminate the gap between First Nation community-based land use management and integrated landscape management modelling (ILMM). Community-based management lacks an evaluative element for the future effects of land use, and this gap can be filled by the simulation tools of ILMM. The project will apply ILMM to the Kaska community territory and will use traditional knowledge, applied ecological research, and geospatial data. The results will assist future land-use planning in this area, provide training for land use planners, and support traditional knowledge in the ILM community.

With this in mind, the Kaska Dena people and the BC government are discussing a comprehensive land use agreement that would include revenue sharing, protected areas, and shared management administration of the Kaska territory. Rules for development will be established, areas to be protected and conserved identified, and environmental standards upheld. This project is intended to help inform negotiations between governments and to guide Kaska resource management decisions.

Appendix 8: Focus Groups - Discontinuous Themes

Themes that appeared in some focus group discussions but not all

| Focus Groups: Discontinuous Themes | |
|---|--|
| | Question 1- What is the role of the federal government in supporting ILM-type practices? |
| Model Forest/National Park December 16, 2008 (Groups 1 & 2) | -monitoring/tracking/evaluation |
| | Question 3: Of all the roles identified what ones should the federal government prioritize? |
| Inland Sea November 27, 2008 (Groups 1 & 2) Aboriginal-Kaska March 17, 2009 | -increase funding |

Question 1: Monitoring

In terms of the role of the federal government for integrated management practices, both groups 1 and 2 from the Model Forest/National Park focus group identified monitoring as a central role for this level of government. It was put in the context of helping communities monitor integrated management initiatives and research as a form of support.

Question 3: *Increase Funding*

In terms of what should the federal government be doing for integrated management practices, both the Inland Sea and the Aboriginal-Kaska focus groups identified increased funding from this level of government. These three groups, as both Inland Sea focus groups recognized this role, believed the previous ventures were limited by funds, argued that funds leverage movement by other actors for integrated management initiatives, did not receive long-term finances or incentives, and were unable to build community capacity because of it.

Appendix 9: Select Quotations

Question 1: Based on your experience or knowledge, what are some of the specific roles the federal plays that are relevant to ILM?

"Federals should be engaged in providing infrastructure. Reduce common look and feel policies, let communities lead. Organizing the way information is exchanged."

Role of federal government: "Dissemination of research and information."

"ILM role for federals is project/program basis – ad hoc out of necessity – constitutionally limited around IM."

"Federal support is powerful in getting buy in from provincial authorities. Money, opportunity created by federals (e.g., gas tax), is significant in driving strategic change indirectly."

"Role of federals is to provide science base for natural resources management."

"We have a lot of good examples of ILM work on the ground, because people know each other; but when something is nicely integrated on the ground, but it requires integration with federals to make policy changes, it is usually very hard to do. They want to work together, but the work is not very effective and it is very hard to make changes and create actual outputs."

Question 2: How could the federal government best play this role?

The federal government can... "apply the lesson learned...long-range plans and implementation...clarity on research mandates."

"National goals must be addressed, led by federals which then allow increased efficiencies (e.g., climate) consistency (across scales/reporting) and capacity for provincial activities."

"Federals create 'first crack', which is refined and made realistic by provinces/municipalities, which then feed back into federals to help refine and create nationally relevant frameworks (while helping better inform provinces, individuals and tools, which were noted earlier as being opportunistic and reactionary)."

"Creating a body that unites different ministries that are relevant for ILM, if the federal people could get together and discuss the issues at the ministerial level; this could be a good sign for local actions."

"They need to share information across jurisdictional barriers, to be able to work with other territories and jurisdiction groups, so that info (etc) aligns and is transferrable."

"Capacity building to ensure participation into existing planning processes. Funding is way to increase capacity."

Question 3: Of all the roles identified what ones should the federal government prioritize?

"Local agencies, which are comfortable groups to local communities (trusted), need to be behind decisions/policy. Not 'outsiders'. Federals need to do the other things. To pay for what the locals can't pay for."

"Need consistency from the federal government expect (locally to upscale) greater consistency as you go up scale toward feds. Federal policy should be rock solid for longer period – less changeable."

"Federal government must work more horizontally in policy department. Recognize value of local initiatives in developing policy."

"At least support communities to do monitoring and co-ordination to support integrated policy. Help groups know about each other, come together, and learn about resources. A leadership role."

"Foster communications between local governments in a more organized fashion and also create educational opportunities on complex issues such as ILM, cumulative impacts and other complex issues that are hard to deal with on the local level only."

"Federal government should create facilitative decision making mechanisms (with provinces possibly?)"

References

Babiak, K., and L. Thibault. 2009. "Challenges in Multiple Cross-Sector Partnerships." *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly* 38, issue 1: 117-143.

BSIMPI Secretariat, undated. "Annual Report, 2001-2002: Beaufort Sea Integrated Management Planning Initiative." < http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/Library/319310.pdf >. Accessed May 18, 2010.

Burton, J., C. Messier, D.W. Smith, and W.L. Adamowicz. 2003. *Towards Sustainable Management of the Boreal Forest*. Natural Research Council Canada Press, Ottawa.

Canada, NRCan (Natural Resources Canada). 2009. "Sustainable Development Strategy, 1997-2001: Safeguarding Our Assets, Securing Our Future." < http://www.nrcan-rncan.gc.ca/sd-dd/pubs/h2o/int-eng.php>. Accessed July 20, 2009.

Canada, OAG (Office of the Auditor General). 2007. "Environment and Sustainable Development: Areas of Shared Jurisdiction May 2000 Report." < http://www.oag-bvg.gc.ca/internet/English/att_c007aa_e_11159.html>. Accessed July 20, 2009.

Canada, PRI (Policy Research Initiative). 2005. "Integrated Landscape Management Modelling Workshop Report February 28 - March 1, 2005." Ottawa.

———. 2009. "Imagine Canada Implementation Workshop 2008: Integrated Management and Geospatial Information Network for the Environment – Building a Shared Vision." Ottawa.

Canada, PPF and PRI (Public Policy Forum and Policy Research Initiative). 2008. "Integrated Landscape Management: Conceptualizing a National Network." Implementation workshop report. http://www.pri-prp.gc.ca/page.asp?pagenm=2009-0013_01. Accessed July 20, 2009.

Cantin, B. 2010. "Integrated Place-Based Approaches for Sustainable Development." *Horizons* 10, no. 4:7-15.

Charles, A., M. Wiber, K. Bigney, D. Curtis, L. Wilson, R. Angus, J. Kearney, M. Landry, M. Recchia, H. Saulnier, and C. White. "Integrated Management: A Coastal Community Perspective". Horizons 10, no. 4.

Clausen, S., and M.L. McAllister. 2001. "An Integrated Approach to Mineral Policy." Journal of Environmental Planning and Management 44, issue 2: 227-244.

Eddy, S., H. Fast, and T. Henley. 2002. "Integrated Management Planning in Canada's Northern Marine Environment: Engaging Coastal Communities." Pp. 291-295 in *The Arctic Institute of North America* 55, issue 3 (September). http://pubs.aina.ucalgary.ca/arctic/Arctic55-3-291.pdf>. Accessed July 20, 2009.

Edge, S., and M.L. McAllister. 2009. "Place-Based Local Governance and Sustainable Communities: Lessons from Canadian Biosphere Reserves." Journal of Environmental Planning and Management 52, issue 3: 279-295.

Elliott, G.M., and B. Spek. 2004. "Integrated Management Planning in the Beaufort Sea: Blending Natural and Social Science in Settled Land Claim Area." Science and Management of Protected Areas Association. . Accessed March 5, 2010.

Ellsworth, J.P., and L. Jones-Walters. 2005. "Journeys in Governance: The Role of the Public Sector in Addressing Tough Community Issues." Unpublished.

Fast, H., D.B. Chiperzak, and K.J. Cott. 2005. "Integrated Management Planning in Canada's Western Arctic: An Adaptive Consultation Process." Chapter 5 (pp. 99-102) in *Breaking Ice: Renewable Resource and Ocean Management in the Canadian North.* Calgary: University of Calgary.

Fern, E. 2001. Advanced Focus Group Research. London: Sage Publications, London.

Government of Alberta, (GOA), 2008, "Land-Use Framework", Government of Alberta website. <www.landuse.alberta.ca/AboutLandUseFramework/Default.aspx>. Accessed November 13, 2009.

Hessing, M., M. Howlett and T. Summerville. 2005, Canadian Natural Resource and Environmental Policy-Political Economy and Public Policy. Vancouver: UBC Press.

IDRC (International Development Research Centre). 2007. "Challenges and Opportunities for Integrated Land Management." In *On Solid Ground*. http://www.idrc.ca/en/ev-29592-201-1-DO_TOPIC.html. Accessed July 20, 2009.

Lenihan, D. 2009. "Rethinking the Public Policy Process: A Public Engagement Framework." In *Public Policy Forum*. http://www.ppforum.ca/publications/rethinking-public-policy-process-public-engagement-framework. Accessed November 12, 2009.

McCloy, B.W., & Associates. 2001. *Greenhouse Gas Emissions: 2001 VCR Report*. Alberta-Pacific Forest Industries Inc. September. http://www.ghgregistries.ca/registry/out/C3207-APFI-02-PDF.PDF. Accessed August 6, 2009.

Plummer, R., and D.A. Fennell. 2009. "Managing Protected Areas for Sustainable Tourism: Prospects for Adaptive Co-Management." *Journal of Sustainable Tourism* 17, issue 2: 149-168.

Pollack, R.M. 2009. "The Role of UNESCO Biosphere Reserves in Governance for Sustainability: Cases from Canada." Unpublished Ph.D. thesis, Trent University.

Rayner, J., and M. Howlett. 2009a. "Conclusion: Governance Arrangements and Policy Capacity for Policy Integration." *Policy and Society* 28: 165-172.

Rayner, J. and M. Howlett, 2009b. "Implementing Integrated Land Management in Western Canada: Policy Reform and the Resilience of Clientelism", *Journal of Natural Resources Policy Research* 1, issue 4: 321-334

Rutherford, S., and D. Curran. 2008. "Green Infrastructure for Sustainable Communities." Presented to the Federation of Canadian Municipalities Sustainable Communities Conference, February 16, 2008, Ottawa.

Waldick, R. 2010. "The Role of Institutions in Integrated Management." *Horizons* 10, no. 4:73-80.

Notes

¹ Place-based approaches are collaborative means to address complex social-economic issues through interventions defined at a specific geographic scale such as a neighbourhood or a watershed (Cantin, 2010).

² The PRI conducts research in support of the Government of Canada's medium-term agenda. Its core mandate is to advance research on emerging horizontal issues and ensure the effective transfer of acquired knowledge to policy makers http://pri-prp.gc.ca.

³ See, for example, Clausen and McAllister (2001: 227); Fast et al. (2005: 101); PRI (2009).

⁴ Forty-one percent of Canada's total land mass is federal Crown land. About four percent of federal Crown land is in the provinces (17 million ha) with the remainder is located in the territories.

⁵ n represents the number of units (i.e. participants) in a sample, according to statistical notation.